IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

Supreme Court Case No.: SC11-2453 DCA Case No. 1D11-384 Lower Tribunal Case No.: 2007-CA-1818

BOB GRAHAM; TALBOT "SANDY" D'ALEMBERTE; JOAN RUFFIER; BRUCE W. HAUPTLI; JAMES P. JONES; HOWARD B. ROCK; ERIC H. SHAW; and FREDERICK R. STROBEL,

Petitioners,

VS.

MIKE HARIDOPOLOS, President of the Florida Senate; and DEAN CANNON, Speaker of the Florida House of Representatives, on behalf of the Florida Legislature,

Respondents.

PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF ON MERITS

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM A DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

ROBIN GIBSON
GIBSON LAW FIRM
299 E. Stuart Avenue
Lake Wales, FL 33853
863-676-8584 (Office)
863-676-0548 (Fax)

QUESTION PRESENTED

WHETHER THE CONSTITUTIONAL AMENDMENT TRANSFERRING TO THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS THE POWER TO OPERATE, MANAGE AND CONTROL UNIVERSITIES NECESSARILY CARRIED WITH IT THE POWER TO CONTROL TUITION AND FEES

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action was initially brought by the individual Plaintiffs before Judge Charles A. Francis in the Circuit Court for Leon County. (R. 1: 14). Shortly thereafter, the Board of Governors joined the action as Co-Plaintiff and an Amended Complaint was filed. (R. 1: 56).

For an extended period of time the parties filed, and the trial court considered and ruled upon, comprehensive motions that refined the issues now appearing in Plaintiffs' Third Amended Complaint (R. 3: 502) and Defendants' Answer. (R. 4: 737).

The trial court granted standing to the Board on all nine counts (R. 4: 720-23), and standing to the individual Plaintiffs on the appropriations issues alleged in four counts of the Third Amended Complaint. (R. 4: 723-26). Trial on all issues was set to begin in July of 2010.

In March of 2010 the Board of Governors filed a Notice of Voluntary Dismissal. (R. 6: 1117). The trial court thereafter confined the hearing to the appropriations issues and eliminated consideration of the non-appropriation counts where standing had been exclusive to the Board of Governors. (R. 9: 1737).

Both parties filed motions for summary judgment together with supporting legal memoranda, deposition testimony, affidavits, and documentary evidence in advance of the dispositive motions hearing. (R. 7: 1143-63, 1169-94; 8: 1396-1585; 9: 1586-1703, 1708-16).

Oral arguments were held June 18, 2010. Without objection from the parties, the court announced it could rule on all issues as a matter of law without the need for trial.

2

¹ This action was filed in 2007. At the time, the most recent financial figures were those of that year. The parties continued to use the 2007 figures throughout the litigation. The figures are illustrative of the same legal issues that exist presently.

The trial court entered its Final Summary Declaratory Judgment on December 30, 2010, granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment and denying Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. 9: 1755).

Plaintiffs appealed the trial court's ruling to the First District Court of Appeal, which affirmed. *Graham v. Haridopolos*, 75 So. 3d 315 (Fla. 1st DCA 2011). This court granted Plaintiffs' petition for discretionary jurisdiction on March 15, 2012.

Because the question concerns the constitutionality of legislative acts controlling tuition and student fees, the matter comes to this Court to be reviewed de novo. *See City of Miami v. McGrath*, 824 So. 2d 143, 146 (Fla. 2002).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Background

Florida's university system traces its beginnings to the Legislature's 1905 Buckman Act, which consolidated scattered state schools into three institutions of higher learning. Governance of the system was placed with a statutory state agency known as the Board of Control.

University governance was stable until 1956, but has traveled a rocky road since. In that year, the Florida Senate created the Johns Committee which launched a legislative investigation of Florida's universities for

communists, subversives and homosexuals on the campuses. Thereafter, state business leaders and outside education consultants published a 1962 study critical of political interference in university matters. The study led the Legislature to redesign university governance and create the statutory Board of Regents to replace the Board of Control in 1965. ²

The turmoil continued. In 1971, the Legislature attempted unsuccessfully to abolish the Board of Regents. The 1978 Constitution Revision Commission proposed a constitutional amendment granting the Board of Regents constitutional autonomy. The amendment failed. Stung by the attempt at independence, the Legislature attempted to abolish the Board of Regents in 1979 and 1980, but was unsuccessful. The 1980 measure passed both houses, only to be vetoed by the Governor.³

In 2001, the Legislature successfully abolished the Board. University governance was assigned to a legislative agency known as the "Florida Board of Education" (not to be confused with the constitutional agency known as the "Board of Education") that controlled universities under the Legislature's "K-20 Education Code."

² Hendrix Chandler, Dreams and Political Realities: *A 20th Century History of Florida's University System* 26-28 (1983) (unpublished manuscript) (on file with Board of Governors, Tallahassee).

³ *Id*.

The Framers

Thereafter, a collection of concerned citizens undertook an effort to depoliticize university governance through an amendment to the state's Constitution. The Amendment's framers were members of a state-wide steering committee for an entity known as Education Excellence for Florida. ("EEF") Ruffier Depo. pp. 40-41 (R. 8: 1471-72). EEF was concerned about the political turmoil and the resulting harm to Florida's universities. Graham Depo. pp. 15, 46 (R. 8: 1600, 1631); Shorstein Depo. p. 44 (R. 8: 1538).

EEF explored the possibility of constitutional status for university governance similar to the proven systems in Michigan, California and Minnesota. Graham Depo. pp. 29, 51- 52 (R. 9: 1614, 1636, 1637); Ruffier Depo. p. 21 (R. 8: 1452); Shorstein Depo. p. 44 (R. 8: 1538). The framers' intent was to align their efforts with the desires of the people who would ultimately be called upon to vote on an initiative to amend the state's Constitution. A comprehensive exploratory process ensued, involving public forums at university sites and across the state, four focus groups in two cities, and a statewide poll. The information gained was brought together for the drafting of a proposed amendment that was put forward for adoption. Graham Depo. p. 10 (R. 9: 1595).

The Voters

The voters heard advocacy from both sides. The efforts of EEF were opposed by an entity known as Floridians for Education Reform⁴ ("FER") favoring the continued legislative control over universities. FER challenged the amendment before this Court and later at the ballot box. This Court, in Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General re: Local Trustees, 819 So. 2d 725 (Fla. 2002), unanimously approved the language of the proposed amendment The Amendment was then debated publicly and for ballot inclusion. considered by editorial boards across the state before the question went to the polls. Graham Depo. pp. 30, 34 (R. 9: 1615, 1619); Ruffier Depo. pp. 43-45 (R. 8: 1474-1476); Shorstein Depo. pp. 29, 66, 69 (R. 8: 1523, 1560, 1563). On election day of 2002, the electorate adopted the Amendment with a vote of greater than sixty percent,⁵ evidencing that the effort of the framers to match their intent with the intent of the voters had been successful. The Amendment now appears as Article IX, Section 7 of the Florida Constitution. The full text is included in the Appendix to this brief. (A. 1).

1

⁴Florida Division of Elections, Committee Tracking System, http://www.election.dos.state.fl.us/committees/ComLkupByName.asp

⁵ Fla. Dept. of State Website, election.dos.state.fl.us/initiatives/initiativelist. asp. In 2002, constitutional amendments needed a vote of greater than 50% for adoption. Since then, the favorable vote must exceed 60%. The amendment succeeded under both standards.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Public and private universities are both funded by the earnings of their corporate entities that receive monies from contracts, grants, tuition, fees, and the like in exchange for services provided by the universities. "Publics" receive a second source of funding from the state's general revenue as a subsidy designed to make higher education affordable for most of the state's citizens. An appreciation of the dual funding for public universities is important for the resolution of the issues in this action.

Article III of the Florida Constitution provides the Legislature with its power to legislate. Before the adoption of the university Amendment, the Article III power was the only basis for the Legislature's complete statutory control of universities, including the creation of a state agency as an operating entity along with the setting of tuition and student fees.

Article VII of the Constitution provides the Legislature with its power to tax and appropriate funds from general revenue. This is the authority for the subsidy from the state to its public universities.

The plain language of the university Amendment acted as a self-executing, all-inclusive transfer of the Legislature's Article III power to "govern," "operate," "manage," "control," "regulate" and be "fully responsible" for the "whole university system" to an independent

constitutional operating entity known as the Board of Governors. The transfer was without exception, qualification or diminishment and thereby included the Legislature's previous Article III power to operate universities along with the setting of tuition and fees.

ARGUMENT

I. The Power to Control the Management and Operation of Universities Necessarily Carried With it the Power to Control Tuition and Fees

A. Article III Legislative Power

A founding principle of our constitutional government is that the people, as an attribute of sovereignty, retain the power to regulate their own conduct. As a result, Article III, Section 1, is a unique provision in the Florida Constitution. Even though the provision vests "[t]he legislative power of the state" with the Legislature, it is not a grant of power. *Crist v. Florida Assoc. of Criminal Defense Lawyers, Inc.*, 978 So. 2d 134, 141 (Fla. 2008). The Legislature is allowed to exercise its legislative authority on behalf of the people only up to the time that the people decide for themselves how they wish for a given activity to be carried out. *Amos v. Mathews*, 126 So. 308, 315 (Fla. 1930). When that time comes, the people express themselves by amending their constitution. The constitution is therefore said to be a limitation by the people upon what would otherwise be the Legislature's

absolute power to make laws. *Amos*, 126 So. at 315. Stated differently, the Legislature is free to make any law that is not forbidden by organic law. *Crist*, 978 So. 2d at 141.

The Article III power provided the pre-Amendment authority for the Legislature to create its own state agency as a "body corporate" with an appointed board to manage Florida's university system. (Board of Control, 1905-1965; Board of Regents, 1965-2001; Florida Board of Education, 2001-2003).

The key fiscal distinction is between: 1) the general revenue distributed pursuant to the Article VII power to appropriate, and 2) the university funds generated pursuant to the Article III power to manage the corporate enterprise. Appropriations are made from funds generated by mandatory payments of taxes and fees. Management handles funds generated from voluntary payments for services. Generally speaking, one controls funds from taxation, while the other controls funds from contract.

In constitutional systems, these voluntary, contractual revenues have included research grants, tuition and student fees, endowments for universities, income from management of investments, and private monies and contracts. *See* Amended Complaint in this action, with citations (R. 1: 27).

As a governance mechanism in public higher education, constitutional autonomy has produced universities acknowledged to be among the most distinguished in the country. Neal H. Hutchens, *Preserving the Independence of Public Higher Education: An Examination of State Constitutional Autonomy Provisions for Public Colleges and Universities*, 35 J.C. & U.L 271. The intent of the framers and voters was to achieve the same for Florida. Subsection (a) of the Amendment states that its purpose is to "achieve excellence through the teaching of students, advancing research and providing public service for the benefit of Florida's citizens, their communities and economies"

B. Transfer of Legislature's Power to Independent Constitutional Entities

The people are free to transfer what would otherwise be the Legislature's power to other constitutional entities besides the Legislature. *Sylvester v. Tindall*, 18 So. 2d 892, 900 (Fla. 1944). Indeed, Florida has a comprehensive, seventy-year body of law to that effect. In 1942, the people adopted Section 30 to Article IV of the state's Constitution. *Id.* at 894. The amendment created the Florida Game and Fresh Water Fish Commission as an independent constitutional entity. *Caribbean Conservation Corp. v. Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission*, 838 So. 2d 492, 497 (Fla. 2003). The amendment transferred the Legislature's authority to provide for the

"management, restoration, conservation and regulation" of the state's game and fresh water fish to the Commission in its capacity as a constitutional entity. *Sylvester*, 18 So. 2d at 896.

Where one method or means of exercising a power is prescribed in the constitution, that prescription acts to deny the exercise of that power to others. Bush v. Holmes, 919 So. 2d 392, 407 (Fla. 2006). Accordingly, the effect of a transfer of a portion of legislative authority to an independent constitutional entity divests the Legislature of that authority, Beck v. Game and Fresh Water Fish Commission, 33 So. 2d 594, 595 (Fla. 1948), while vesting that authority in the recipient constitutional entity. State ex rel. Griffin v. Sullivan, 30 So. 2d 919, 920 (Fla. 1947). Because of its "independent constitutional stature," the entity assumes the authority the Legislature had prior to the transfer. Caribbean Conservation, 838 So. 2d at 497. The rules adopted by the constitutional entity are then tantamount to legislative acts, Airboat Assoc. of Florida, Inc. v. Florida Game and Fresh Water Fish Commission, 498 So. 2d 629, 630 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1986), and become the governing law. Griffin, 30 So. 2d at 920. Any and all statutes in conflict with the purpose and intent of the transfer are repealed. Sylvester v. Tindall, 18 So. 2d 892, 900 (Fla. 1944).

The same basic, fundamental constitutional principles apply to the university Amendment at issue. Before 2002, the people had not expressed in

their constitution how public universities were to be "governed," "operated," "managed," "controlled," or "regulated." No corporate entity had been created by the people to be "fully responsible" for the "whole university system." Since the constitution placed no limit upon the Legislature concerning the governance of public universities, the full responsibility for the whole university system properly fell to the Legislature's Article III authority.

That all changed in 2002, when the people amended the Florida Constitution and expressed for themselves how they wished for their universities to be governed. Following the political turmoil impacting universities (*See* pp. 1-2, above), the people decided to de-politicize university governance by transferring the "full responsibility" for the operation of the "whole university system" to a citizen board they created as a separate, independent constitutional entity. Article IX, Section 7, Fla. Const.

C. Florida's Independent Constitutional Entities

The Board of Governors joins other Florida entities that have been assigned portions of the Article III Legislative authority by the people for the purpose of carrying out specific state functions. These independent entities are separate and distinct from the branches of government and from each other. The other entities include the Florida Wildlife and Conservation Commission (formerly the Florida Game and Fresh Water Fish Commission)

created by Article IV, Section 9, and the Judicial Qualifications Commission, created by Article V, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution. *See Inquiry Concerning Judge John R. Sloop*, 946 So. 2d 1046, 1049 (Fla. 2006) (holding that, "Under the Constitution, the Judicial Qualifications Commission (JQC) is an independent entity").

As long as such entities operate within the scope of their constitutional authority, they stand as co-equals to the legislative branch of government. *Sylvester v. Tindall*, 18 So. 2d 892, 900-01 (Fla. 1944). This is because each entity has been created and can be abolished by the sovereign authority, the same authority that has created and has the power to abolish the Legislature itself. *Coleman v. State ex rel. Race*, 159 So. 2d 504, 507, (Fla. 1935) ("By the adoption of constitutional amendments By such procedure not only may valid law be established without legislative act, but the Legislature may be abolished and some other lawmaking power set up in its place. The Legislature is the creature of the Constitution and can never be superior in powers to the will of the people as written by them in the Constitution.").

D. Other States' Constitutional Entities are Consistent with Florida Law about its Independent Constitutional Entities

Constitutions of other states have also created independent constitutional entities. The best known of these are the entities that manage, operate, and control their public universities. In drafting the Amendment, the

framers sought to de-politicize universities and obtain advantages that had benefitted other states. They analyzed the governance structures for some of the more distinguished public universities in the country, and focused on the states of Michigan, Minnesota and California. Ruffier Depo. pp. 21, 40-41 (R. 8: 1452, 1471-72); Graham Depo. pp. 15, 29, 46, 51-52 (R. 9: 1600, 1614, 1631, 1636-37); Shorstein Depo. p. 44 (R. 8: 1538). Each of those states has a 150-year body of law concerning constitutional university governance. At least one state supreme court has credited the replacement of political control with constitutional governance as a major factor for university achievement. *Sterling v. Regents of the University of Michigan*, 68 N.W. 253, 266 (Mich. 1896).

The framers authored Florida's amendment so that it would constitute the broadest and most all-inclusive conveyance of university governance authority in the country. None of the other state constitutions conveys self-executing and unqualified corporate powers that are as broad and as all-inclusive as the powers to "govern," "operate," "regulate," "manage,"

_

⁶ California: *Royers Estate*, 56 P. 461 (Cal. 1899) (Board of Regents created as corporation in Constitution of 1849); Michigan: *Federated Publications, Inc. v. Board of Trustees of Michigan State University*, 594 N.W. 2d 491, 496 (Mich. 1999) (Board of Regents created as corporation in Constitution of 1850); Minnesota: *State v. Chase*, 220 N.W. 951, 954 (Minn. 1928).

"control," and be "fully responsible" for the "whole university system."

With such an all-inclusive transfer of what was previously legislative prerogative, Florida joined the ranks of states enjoying the benefits of constitutional university governance:

[T]he governing boards of public institutions, such as colleges and universities, are corporations, and, while functioning within the scope of their authority, are not subject to the control or supervision of any other branch or department of the state government, but are regarded as independent legal entities with the general powers ordinarily possessed by such entities. The status of the governing board of a public university may be that of the highest form of juristic person known to law, the constitutional corporation of independent authority, which, within the scope of its functions, is a co-ordinate with and equal to that of the legislature.

14A *C.J.S. Colleges and Universities* § 14 (2009) (internal footnotes omitted).

_

⁷ Compare: Ala. Const. §§ 264, 266; Alaska Const. art. 11, §§ 5-6; Ark. Const. art. 14, §§ 12-13; Cal. Const. art. 9, § 9; Colo. Const. art. 10§ 5; Conn. Const. art. Eighth, § 2; Ga. Const. § IV, ¶ 1; Haw. Const. art. X, § 5; Idaho Const. art. IX, § 10; Iowa Const. art. 2d, § 2; Kan. Const. § 2; La. Const. art. VII, § 5; Me. Const. art. VII, § 1; Mass. Const. ch. V, § 1; Mich. Const. art. VIII, § 5; Minn. Const. art. VII, § 3; Mo. Const. art. IV, § 9(b); Mont. Const. art. X, § 9; Neb. Const. art. VII, §§ 10-14; Nev. Const. § 4, 8; N.M. Const. § 11; N.Y. Const. art. V, § 4, and art. XI, § 2; N.C. Const. § 8; N.D. Const. art. VII, § 6; Okla. Const. § XIII; Tenn. Const. § 12; Tex. Const. art. 7, §§ 10, 13, 17-18; Utah Const. art. X, § 4; Wis. Const. § 6; Wyo. Const. 97-7-015.

E. Separation of Powers

With the advent of the Board of Governors as a co-equal constitutional entity and the transfer of all-inclusive power over universities to that entity, the separation of powers with regard to universities took on a new configuration:

CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA ARTICLE IX EDUCATION

SECTION 7. State University System.—

* * *

[Powers, Co-Equal Entity]

- (b) STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM. . . . a board of governors shall **govern** the state university system.
- (d) STATEWIDE BOARD OF GOVERNORS. The board of governors shall be a **body** <u>corporate</u> consisting of seventeen members. The board shall <u>operate</u>, <u>regulate</u>, <u>control</u>, <u>and be <u>fully responsible</u> for the <u>management</u> of the <u>whole university system</u>. These responsibilities shall <u>include</u>, but not be <u>limited to</u>, defining the distinctive mission of each constituent university and its articulation with free public schools and community colleges, ensuring the well-planned coordination and operation of the system, and avoiding wasteful duplication of facilities or programs.</u>

[Powers, Legislative]

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