#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BOB GRAHAM, et al.,

Petitioners, Case No.: SC11-2453 L.T. Case Nos.: 1D11-384

2007-CA-1818

v.

MIKE HARIDOPOLOS, President of the Florida Senate; and DEAN CANNON, Speaker of the Florida House of Representatives on behalf of the Florida Legislature,

Respondents.	
	/

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF

On Discretionary Review From A Decision Of The First District Court of Appeal

\_\_\_\_\_

DANIEL C. BROWN
Fla. Bar No. 0191049
CHRISTINE DAVIS GRAVES
Fla. Bar No. 569372
CARLTON FIELDS, P.A.
215 South Monroe Street, Suite 500
Tallahassee, Florida 32301
Telephone: (850) 224-1585

Facsimile: (850) 222-0398

Counsel for Respondents

## **

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

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The powers conferred on BOG by article IX, section 7 are explicitly "subject to the powers of the legislature to appropriate for the expenditure of funds." Art. IX, § 7(d), Fla. Const. The constitution has long granted plenary appropriation power to the Legislature over university funding by article VII, section 1, and article IX, section 1. This Court held in its ballot access decision that Amendment

11 would not "substantially affect or alter any provision of the state constitution," if adopted. *Advisory Op. to the Atty. Gen. re Local Trustees*, 819 So. 2d at 732. This conclusively settles the question of whether Amendment 11 gave BOG authority over tuition and fees. It did not. No further inquiry is allowed or needed.

The constitution does not make the distinction Petitioners urge between "general revenue funds" and "university funds" in relation to the Legislature's appropriation power, and it does not confine the Legislature's appropriation power to "general revenue funds," either in article IX, section 7 or elsewhere. Instead, without qualification or circumscription, the constitution broadly invests the Legislature with the power to raise "revenue to defray the state's expenses" and to appropriate "moneys" and "funds." Art. VII, § 1(c),(d); Art. IX, § 7(d), Fla. Const.

Furthermore, the purported intent of the framers is legally irrelevant to the proper interpretation of article IX, section 7. Article IX, section 7 unambiguously preserves to the Legislature the power to appropriate for the expenditure of funds for the university system. In such a case as this, Florida law is settled that the intent of a citizen initiative's sponsor or individual supporters is of little or no relevance when interpreting the amendment.

Finally, even if the intent of the amendment's supporters could be considered, Petitioners' argument rests on statements by individuals whose subjective opinions differ from the sponsor's statement of intent in Amendment

11's ballot access proceeding, and those individuals' statements are contradicted by other stated opinions of Amendment 11 supporters. The evidence Petitioners rely on for their assertion of the "framers' intent" thus is not reliable as an extrinsic interpretational aid. Consequently, Petitioners' assertions about the "framers' intent" are of scant or no value, if resort to extrinsic information were permissible at all.

Petitioners' other arguments for reversal are also legally incorrect. They are based on constitutional provisions from other states that differ materially from article IX, section 7, cases that are not on point, and a misreading of the constitutional source of the Legislature's appropriation power.

The First District's decision is correct, and this Court should approve it.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review of a trial court order granting summary judgment is de novo. *Volusia County v. Aberdeen at Ormond Beach, L.P.*, 760 So. 2d 126, 130 (Fla. 2000).

- II. ARTICLE IX, SECTION 7 DOES NOT CHANGE THE LEGISLATURE'S LONGSTANDING, HISTORIC POWER TO APPROPRIATE FOR TUITION AND FEES.
  - A. The Florida Constitution Grants Power Over Tuition And Fees To The Legislature As Part Of The Appropriation Power, And Nothing In Article IX, Section 7 Demonstrates An Intent To Abolish Or Curtail That Power.

Article IX, section 7 explicitly states that the Legislature has the power "to appropriate for the expenditure of funds," and that BOG's powers are subject to that legislative power. That provision does not merely reserve to the Legislature the power to appropriate for the expenditure of "general revenue" – the artificial limitation Petitioners attempt to assert here. It makes clear that the Legislature's power over "funds" remains the same.

It is even clearer that the Legislature's appropriation power extends to tuition and fees when article IX, section 7 is viewed in conjunction with other longstanding constitutional provisions that give plenary revenue-raising and appropriation power to the Legislature. Those constitutional provisions were not altered or affected by article IX, section 7. *See Advisory Op. to the Atty. Gen. re Local Trustees*, 819 So. 2d 725, 732 (Fla. 2002).

Article VII, section 1 of the Florida Constitution grants plenary revenueraising and appropriations power to the Legislature. It provides:

- (c) No money shall be drawn from the treasury except in pursuance of appropriation made by law.
- (d) Provision shall be made by law for raising sufficient revenue to defray the expenses of the state for each fiscal period.

Those clauses do not limit the Legislature to raising "general revenue," or to raising "taxes," and do not limit the Legislature to appropriating "general revenue," as Petitioners contend. Instead, they imbue the Legislature with the power to raise

"revenue," in the broadest sense, for expenses of the state. They broadly empower the Legislature to appropriate for the expenditure of "money" from the treasury, without qualification.

This Court made those points clear in *Chiles v. Children A, B, C, D, E, and F*, 589 So. 2d 260, 267 (Fla. 1991), when it reiterated that the power to raise revenue and appropriate for its expenditure is vested only in the Legislature:

We note again that it is the legislature's constitutional duty to determine and raise the appropriate revenue to defray the expenses of the state. . . . Under any working system of government, one of the branches must be able to exercise the power of the purse, and in our system it is the legislature, as representative of the people and maker of laws, including laws pertaining to appropriations, to whom that power is constitutionally assigned.

In addition, article IX, section 1(a) vests the Legislature with the constitutional duty and authority to determine the funding sources and levels to sustain Florida's public institutions of higher learning. It states:

Adequate provision shall be made by law . . . for the establishment, <u>maintenance</u>, and operation of institutions of higher learning and other public education programs that the needs of the people may require.

Id. "Maintenance" or to "maintain" means to "bear the expense of" or to "furnish means for subsistence or existence of," Black's Law Dictionary 953 (6th ed. 1990) – in other words, to provide for sources and methods of funding. See generally, Bush v. Holmes, 919 So. 2d 392, 405 (Fla. 2006) ("This Court has long recognized the constitutional obligation that Florida's education article [article IX, section

1(a)] places upon the Legislature.").

Article IX, section 7 must be read in the context of these longstanding constitutional provisions. *E.g.*, *Bush v. Holmes*, 919 So. 2d 392 (Fla. 2006); *Adv. Op. to Governor*, 706 So. 2d 278, 281 (Fla. 1997); *see also Askew v. Fla. Game & Fresh Water Fish Comm'n*, 336 So. 2d 556, 560 (Fla. 1976) (A constitutional amendment is to be construed *in pari materia* with other constitutional provisions bearing on the subject to ensure a consistent and logical meaning that gives effect to each constitutional provision.).

Nothing in article IX, section 7 or in the ballot summary for Amendment 11 contains even a whisper of intent to displace or alter the Legislature's appropriation power in respect to university system funding. Nothing in its text empowers BOG, an executive branch agency, either to raise revenue by setting tuition and fees or to spend tuition and fees without legislative authorization. Quite to the contrary, the plain language of article IX, section 7 makes clear that the power "to appropriate for the expenditure of funds" continues to reside in the Legislature, not BOG.

B. Neither The Text Of The Constitution Nor Florida Precedent Supports Petitioners' Distinction Between "General Revenue" And "University Funds."

Petitioners contend that the power to "appropriate for the expenditure of funds" in article IX, section 7 refers only to "general revenue funds," and not to

what they now call "university funds." (In the First District below, Petitioners characterized tuition and fees as "agency funds.") Petitioners contend that article IX, section 7 transferred to BOG what they label a "statutory" appropriation power over "university funds" (*i.e.*, tuition and fees). (IB at 7, 9, 18-20, 28). Every element of Petitioners' proposition is unsupportable as a matter of law.

At the most fundamental level, it makes no difference to the Legislature's appropriation power whether Petitioners label tuition and fees as "university funds" or "agency funds," or contrive some other characterization for them. Long before Amendment 11, this Court held that the "[c]onstitution requires legislative appropriation or authorization for the use of any funds [received] from whatever source by a public agency or official." *Advisory Op. to the Governor*, 200 So. 2d 534, 536 (Fla. 1967) (addressing art. IV, § 24, and art. IX, § 4, Fla. Const. (1885), now art. IV, § 4(c), and art. VII, § 1, Fla. Const. (1968)).

Indeed, the Court reached that conclusion in the context of private-source funds received by the Governor – an office which, like BOG, is created by the constitution. Thus, notwithstanding the constitutional status of BOG as an executive branch agency, the constitution requires that funds received by it "from whatever source," must be deposited into the state treasury, and the Legislature must authorize their expenditure by appropriation. Accordingly, no matter how Petitioners now seek to characterize tuition and fees, the inescapable fact remains:

They are funds received by an executive branch agency, and therefore "require legislative appropriation or authorization for [their] use." *Id.* at 536.

Moreover, the distinction Petitioners fashion between "agency funds" or "university funds" and "general revenue funds" appears nowhere in the constitution in relation to the Legislature's revenue-raising and appropriation power. While article III, section 19 places procedural constraints on general revenue appropriations for certain purposes and on appropriation of certain general revenue deposited into the budget stabilization fund, the constitution nowhere restricts the Legislature's revenue-raising and appropriation power to "general revenue," and nowhere refers to "agency" or "university" funds.

Instead, the constitution broadly empowers the Legislature to raise "revenues to defray the expenses of the state," not merely general revenue. Art. VII, § 1(d), Fla. Const. It empowers the Legislature to appropriate "moneys" or "funds" from the treasury without qualification, not merely "general revenue." Art. VII, § 1(c); art. IX, § 7(d), Fla. Const. It further empowers the Legislature to provide by law for the maintenance (funding) of the state universities. Art. IX, § 1(a), Fla. Const.

Thus, the source of the Legislature's appropriation power over tuition and fees – which Petitioners wish to classify as "agency" or "university" funds – is and always has been constitutional. It is not, and never was, merely a "statutory"

power, as Petitioners contend. (IB at 7, 18-20). Article IX, section 7 preserved the Legislature's constitutional power to raise and appropriate revenues to defray the expenses of the state. That power includes tuition and fees.

In part, Petitioners believe university tuition and fees are not subject to the Legislature's appropriation power because they mistakenly infer that legislative permission to hold tuition and fees in university accounts somehow deprives the Legislature of constitutional appropriation authority over them. However, legislative permission to hold tuition and fees in university accounts does not change their character as funds subject to the Legislature's constitutional appropriation power.

Tuition and fees always have been subject to the Legislature's constitutional appropriation power, no matter what accounts the Legislature allows them to be held in. The Legislature has the constitutional authority to allow funds to be permissively held in local accounts, subject to a continuing appropriation provided

<sup>1</sup> See, e.g., § 1011.91, Fla. Stat.:

Except as otherwise provided in the General Appropriations Act, all moneys received by universities, from student fees authorized in s. 1009.24, from federal sources, from private sources, and from vending machine collections, are hereby appropriated to the use of the respective universities collecting same . . . [H]owever, the funds shall not be expended except in pursuance of detailed budgets filed with the Board of Governors and shall not be expended for the construction or reconstruction of buildings except as provided under s. 1013.74.

by law. *E.g.*, *Brown v. Firestone*, 382 So. 2d 654 (Fla. 1980); *In re Opinion of the Justices*, 199 So. 350 (1940). It likewise has the constitutional power to revoke that permission at any time. *See*, *e.g.*, *In re Advisory Op. to the Governor*, 239 So. 2d 1, 10 (Fla. 1970) (general appropriations bill may substitute specific appropriations for prior continuing appropriations); *Advisory Op. to the Governor*, 200 So. 2d 534 (Fla. 1967); *see also* § 216.011(1)(i), Fla. Stat. (2007) (""Continuing appropriation' means an appropriation automatically renewed without further legislative action, period after period, until altered or revoked by the Legislature.").

Moreover, even if the Legislature's appropriation power for state universities were limited to appropriating general revenue (which it is not), Petitioners' argument nevertheless overlooks this established principle: The power to appropriate general revenue includes the power to specify reasonable and related conditions on the appropriation. *See In re Advisory Opinion to the Governor*, 239 So. 2d 1, 10-11 (Fla. 1970) ("The Constitution expressly recognizes the power of the Legislature to make appropriations subject to qualifications and restrictions . . . [which] . . . may limit or qualify the use to which the moneys appropriated may be put and may specify reasonable conditions precedent to their use . . . ."); *see also Fla. Dep't of Educ. v. Glasser*, 622 So. 2d 944, 946, 948 (Fla. 1993) (the Legislature may place conditions on appropriations if the conditions "directly and

rationally relate[] to the purpose of the appropriation.").

The Legislature's decision about how much general revenue to appropriate for the universities necessarily requires determining the relative proportions of the overall university funding that will come from general revenue and from other funding sources. The Legislature therefore is constitutionally entitled to specify the level of tuition and fees that will complement a general revenue appropriation for the universities.

Petitioners argue that the Legislature's power to appropriate for the expenditure of funds is detached from the power to raise the funds in the first place, and contend therefore that BOG (a concededly executive branch agency) is invested with legislative power to establish tuition and fees. (IB at 24). Petitioners are wrong.

The appropriation power vested in the Legislature by article VII, section 1(c) ("No money shall be drawn from the treasury except in pursuance of appropriation made by law") is textually joined in the same section of the constitution with the Legislature's power to raise revenue. Art. VII, § 1(d), Fla. Const. ("Provision shall be made by law for raising sufficient revenue to defray the expenses of the state . . ."). Hence, it is not surprising that the courts have long regarded revenue-raising and appropriation as intertwined parts of the same overall power, which is constitutionally vested in the Legislature. *See,e.g., Chiles v. Children A, B, C, D,* 

*E*, and *F*, 589 So. 2d at 267.

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